STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
May 17 2024
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

QUAYSHAUN XZANDER CLARK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000962

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN RICHARD STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to charge involuntary manslaughter as a lesser-included offense where direct evidence indicated Appellant fired his gun without malice and in self-defense, but missed the target and inadvertently struck a bystander inside the mobile home behind the assailant?

- II. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to charge voluntary manslaughter as a lesser-included offense under the doctrine of transferred intent where direct evidence indicated Appellant was being shot at when, under the sudden heat of passion, he obtained his own firearm and returned fire to stop the threat to himself and other family members present?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Quayshaun Xzander Clark was indicted by the Lexington County Grand Jury on June 13, 2022, for murder, discharging a firearm into a dwelling, and possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime. R. 20, l. 24—R. 21, l. 10; R. 1396-1401. His case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Debra R. McCaslin beginning June 27, 2022. R. 1. Anna M. Williams and Robert “Theo” Williams represented Appellant, while the State was represented by L. Suzanne Mayes and Rhonda W. Patterson. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty on all three counts. R. 1362, ll. 8-22. The trial court sentenced him to concurrent terms of incarceration as follows: 48 years for murder; ten (10) years for discharging a firearm into a dwelling; and five (5) years for possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime. R. 1383, ll. 12-23.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial.” State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). “The trial court is required to charge a jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred that the defendant committed the lesser, rather than the greater, offense.” State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 308, 764 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2014); see also State v. Drafts, 288 S.C. 30, 340 S.E.2d 784 (1986); State v. Gourdine, 322 S.C. 396, 472 S.E.2d 241 (1996). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial [court]’s decision absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 166–67. “The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law.” Id. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 167. “In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser-included offense, the [appellate court] must view the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant.” Sams, 410 S.C. at 308, 764 S.E.2d at 513 (citing State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 525 S.E.2d 511 (2000)). “A trial court should refuse to charge a lesser-included offense only where there is no evidence the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense.” State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 51, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Quayshaun Clark went to the birthday party of his cousin, Shawanda “Wanda” Lites (Wanda) the afternoon of June 6, 2021, at Lot 7 of the Rocky Lane mobile home park just outside the town limits of Batesburg, South Carolina. R. 493, ll. 14-20; R. 1163, ll. 13-20; R. 1165, ll. 6-25. He drove over in his Mercury grand marquis, and enjoyed the afternoon with ten to twenty other friends and family members. R. 1166, ll. 3-24. At some point, he even tried to play music from the speakers recently installed in his trunk; however, after the speaker system failed, he and his cousin Nashua “Nash” Smith (Nash) attempted to fix the problem. R. 1167, l. 5—R. 1168, l. 8. While he possessed several firearms¹ in a bag located in the trunk of his car, he eventually moved the bag to the interior of the car while the speakers were worked on. R. 1168, ll. 10-24; R. 1170, ll.2-25; R. 1198, ll. 1-7.

Unbeknownst to Appellant, his estranged² cousin Donald “DJ” Jackson (DJ) had gotten in an argument with two men, De Alewine and Var Pugh (Pugh), at Hartley’s convenience store in Batesburg the same afternoon. The matter between those parties at first ended when DJ left with his friend Nokia “Nitro” Tolen (Nitro) to DJ’s home, and De Alewine also left with Pugh. R. 680, l. 1—R. 682, l. 16. However, De Alewine and Pugh drove over to DJ’s home and had yet another argument. According to Nitro, they were going to meet again at Rocky Lane. R. 683, l. 5—R. 685, l. 8. In the meantime, Kashia “Kay” Norris (Kay) was already at DJ’s. Moreover,

¹ Appellant acknowledged he owned three (3) firearms: an AR pistol chambered in .300 blackout (kept in the trunk bag); an AK pistol chambered in 7.62 x 39mm (also kept in the trunk bag); and an FN 509 chambered in 9mm (kept in the glovebox). One witness who saw the AK pistol earlier in the day described it as looking “like the AK off of Fortnite.” R. 629, ll. 6-7. Appellant explained that all three firearms were kept in his car because he has a young daughter living in his house and did not want her to have access to them. R. 1168, l. 11—R. 1169, l. 16.

² DJ is a cousin to several people at Lot 7, including Appellant. However, due to his prior altercation with his own family, DJ was avoided. R. 1172, l. 4—R. 1173, l. 4.

Nitro also asked DeCarlos “Hugo” Chatman to go to Lot 7 at Rocky Lane as well. R. 692, l. 6-10. Although uninvited to the birthday party by the people living at Lot 7, Nitro drove DJ and Kay to Lot 7 at approximately 10:00pm. R. 725, l. 3—R. 726, l. 22.

When Nitro, DJ, and Kay arrived at Rocky Lane, Pugh’s car was seen near the area of Lots 15 and 16. A graduation party was also being held across from Lot 7 between Lots 15 and 16. R. 686, l. 5—R. 687, l. 15; R. 692, ll. 11-16 (State’s Ex. #178, photograph). Nitro parked by the porch of Lot 7. R. 730, ll. 3-20; R. 693, ll. 8-10; R. 694, ll. 5-7.

Appellant was still at his car at the Lot 7 birthday celebration. DJ texted once and repeatedly tried to call Appellant earlier in the night. R. 1089, l. 4—R. 1093, l. 4. When he finally got through on a 55 second call, Appellant indicated he simply put his phone down because DJ was yelling. According to Appellant, DJ was “just hollering at me, and I ain’t gonna hear it.” R. 1091, ll. 15-17; R. 1172, l. 4—R. 1173, l. 20.

According to Appellant’s testimony, things began to change later in the night when it was getting dark. Everybody was getting louder, but he brushed it off because he was at a birthday party. Then, while sitting in his car,³ he heard gunshots coming from somewhere in front of the vehicle.⁴ R. 1174, ll. 3-25; R. 1197, ll. 14-22. He ducked down, got out of the car while shots were still being fired, and ran to the back of the vehicle. He ran to the side of the trailer, and then back to his car to get one of his guns. R. 1175, ll. 5-15. Although he heard gunshots from

³ Testifying as a State’s witness, Nitro claimed he saw Appellant coming out of the trailer of Lot 7 behind DJ with a gun shortly before he heard shooting. R. 695, ll. 15-19. Nitro also acknowledged on cross examination he was “a lot intoxicated” the night of the incident, and even had an “Ultra beer” when speaking with police. R. 707, l. 18—R. 708, l. 3.

⁴ Other testimony indicated the first shots fired that night came from Hugo standing near the gravel road by Lot 7. R. 607, l. 22—R. 608, l. 2; R. 613, ll. 16-25. Appellant was unaware of this fact until after the incident. R. 1214, ll. 2-6.

everywhere, when he looked up, he saw a black male possibly with dreadlocks coming at him from across the street and shooting a handgun at him.⁵ R. 1175, l. 18—R. 1176, l. 9; R. 1179, ll. 8-12; R. 1202, l. 24—R. 1203, l. 2. Appellant was “very scared.” He had never been shot at before, or trained what to do in such a situation. R. 1176, ll. 18-25. Both he and his family members were on Lot 7. According to Appellant, he tensed up, “was scared and lost, [his] train of thought, almost like everything around [him] just kind of.... Like just kind of like a blur.” R. 1177, ll. 3-10. Appellant fired what he thought may have been 10 to 12 times from his AK pistol⁶ at the assailant until it was empty because he “really wanted him to stop shooting at us.” R. 1177, ll. 12-23. Appellant further indicated he did not want to injure anyone, and that he was afraid. R. 1183, ll. 1-4; R. 1213, l. 15—R. 1214, l. 1. Even after he ran out of ammunition in his gun, he still heard shooting; Appellant ran back behind his car again. He tried to run to the side of the trailer, but heard more shots coming from that side, and again ran back to his car. R. 1178, l. 1—R. 1179, l. 15; R. 1216, ll. 1-3.

After the shooting stopped, Appellant heard cars leaving the area. He got back into his car, threw his AK pistol into the backseat, and left with Nash to the home of Marvin Lites, Appellant’s Uncle. R. 1178, ll. 5-13. Appellant spoke with Wanda on his phone, and she picked up him and Nash in her vehicle. They drove around together while Appellant tried to calm himself. R. 1179, l. 13—R. 1279, l. 9. Appellant ultimately ended up at the home of Nash’s

⁵ Appellant indicated that even though it was dark, he saw the muzzle flash coming out of the assailant’s handgun. R. 1214, l. 22—R. 1215, l. 1. No testimony was provided whether the handgun was a semi-automatic pistol or a revolver. However, no shell casings were found in the area it was purportedly shot.

⁶ Appellant later acknowledged at trial that all 15 shell casings of 7.62 x 39mm at the scene were his. R. 1201, ll. 14-22.

girlfriend in Gilbert, South Carolina, where he was arrested on June 11, 2021. R. 1180, ll. 12-23; R. 1063, l. 22–R. 1064, l. 7.

911 was first called by 10:35pm after the shooting was over on June 9, 2021. R. 484, ll. 20-25. Officers and volunteer EMS/firefighters arrived first, followed by Lexington County Sheriff's deputies at approximately 10:51pm. R. 496, l. 14–R. 497, l. 8; R. 501, l. 2–R. 502, l. 2. The scene was chaotic and a large crowd from the neighborhood had gathered with numerous people inside the crime scene tape. R. 502, ll. 11-16; R. 528, ll. 1-20; R. 1060, ll. 8-25; R. 1134, l. 12–R. 1135, l. 10. Lots 15, 16, and 7, as well as the area in between, were all processed for evidence by law enforcement. Empty shell casings from several firearms were located throughout the scene near all three lots.⁷ R. 781, l. 3–R. 786, l. 24; R. 855, l. 2–R. 859, l. 17; R. 875, l. 6–R. 877, l. 11; R. 983, l. 25–R. 999, l. 15; R. 1390; R. 1387; R. 1388. Tragically, a Minor inside the kitchen of the trailer on Lot 15 was struck once in the head by a 7.62 x 39mm projectile, and was pronounced dead at the scene. R. 504, ll. 6-12; R. 517, ll. 11-15; R. 834, ll. 5-10; R. 842, ll. 19-22; R. 998, l. 18–R. 999, l. 15. The fatal projectile passed through the trailer, into the back of the refrigerator, exited the front of the appliance, and struck Minor. R. 1041, l. 9–R. 1045, l. 1; State's Ex. #126, (photographs); State's Ex. #46, (photograph).

At the end of Appellant's trial, the State acknowledged that the shooter at Lot 15 was "using Lot 15 as a barricade," and Appellant kept shooting into it. R. 1288, ll. 10-12. As such, the State also made clear to the jury that it was proceeding under the theory of transferred intent:

⁷ Additionally, at least one person present that night was known to carry a .22 revolver. When asked by the State "if a revolver was used by a participant in this gunfire exchange, would you expect to have a casing?" the SLED firearms analyst opined, "No, I would not expect any cartridge cases from revolvers." R. 693, ll. 20-22; R. 1000, l. 23–R. 1001, l. 2. The same was likewise confirmed by the Lexington County CSI sergeant. R. 914, ll. 22-25. Further, more bullet holes were found in at least four vehicles at the scene. The witness agreed it would be "consistent with a reckless shootout." R. 1157, l. 25—R. 1158, l. 4.

Under the law it does not matter that he had the intention to kill others and ends up killing [Minor]. That's called transferred intent and under the law if you commit a murder and you're shooting at A, but your bullet ends up killing an innocent bystander, person B, you are responsible under the law for the murder of person B....

R. 1292, ll. 18-24. In response to Counsel's closing argument that Minor was accidentally shot, the State ended its reply by asserting, "that shooter took that child's life, that shooter fired the bullet that snuffed her out, and for that he doesn't walk away." R. 1316, ll. 15-17. The trial court instructed the jury on self-defense without objection. R. 1333, l. 20—R. 1335, l. 25.

After the jury was charged, trial counsel (Counsel) objected to the court's refusal to instruct the jury on involuntary manslaughter and voluntary manslaughter.⁸ R. 1341, l. 24—R. 1345, l. 4; R. 1391-1395. Specifically, Counsel asserted the second prong of involuntary manslaughter was warranted because Appellant was acting lawfully in self-defense, but essentially with reckless disregard for the safety of others in his handling and shooting of his firearm. R. 1340, l. 24—R. 1342, l. 18. Counsel also argued voluntary manslaughter was appropriate due to the overt threat of gunshots fired at Appellant and Appellant's response of shooting back while under the heat of passion. Counsel further asserted that transferred intent applied to murder and manslaughter. R. 1342, l. 19—R. 1344, l. 25.

The State argued no evidence supported the charge of involuntary manslaughter by asserting that "at no point did the defendant testify that he accidentally discharged the gun, at no point did the defendant testify that he was engaged in a struggle with anyone else and that the gun went off." R. 1345, ll. 8-25. The State acknowledged unsettled law in South Carolina regarding whether transferred intent applies to voluntary manslaughter. However, the State

⁸ A jury charge conference was held, but objections were withheld until after closing arguments and instructions given by the trial court. R. 1268, ll. 2-3; R. 1317, l. 6—R. 1319, l. 6.

nonetheless argued that “there was not sufficient evidence on the record to support a voluntary manslaughter charge regardless of the transferred intent issue.” R. 1346, l. 20—R. 1347, l. 7.

The trial court ruled that it “didn’t hear any evidence supporting an involuntary charge. In fact, just the opposite. . . . There was not any testimony about any accident or it wasn’t intentional or none of that, so the Court declined the charge of involuntary manslaughter.” R. 1347, ll. 8-14. The trial court likewise rejected Counsel’s arguments for voluntary manslaughter:

I read the Childers, the Wharton and also the Williams case that was supplied by the defendant, and the law as it stands today in this State is our Court has not applied the doctrine of transferred intent to voluntary manslaughter. This Court does not believe the evidence even supports a voluntary manslaughter in this case, nor was there any overt act by the victim to indicate any provocation by the victim.

There’s—again, I have to turn back to the defendant arming himself. As a matter of fact, he goes to the back of his car, to the back of the trailer, he goes back to the car, arms himself. There was no testimony or evidence that I heard about a heat of passion or uncontrollable impulse to do violence, so I declined to charge the voluntary manslaughter.

R. 1347, l. 15—R. 1348, l. 5. Appellant was ultimately found guilty on all counts, and sentenced to an overall term of incarceration of 48 years.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court reversibly erred by failing to charge involuntary manslaughter as a lesser-included offense where direct evidence indicated Appellant fired his gun without malice and in self-defense, but missed the target and inadvertently struck a bystander inside the mobile home behind the assailant.**

The trial court also reversibly erred by refusing to charge the jury with involuntary manslaughter where evidence existed in the record supporting the instruction. The law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). Reversible error is committed if the trial court fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). Moreover, when determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser included offense, the court views the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant. See Knoten, 347 S.C. at 302, 555 S.E.2d at 394 (providing a court must view the facts in the light most favorable to a defendant when determining if evidence required a charge on the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter).

“Importantly, our courts have long emphasized that to warrant a court’s eliminating the offense of manslaughter, it should very clearly appear that there is no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter.” State v. Brayboy, 387 S.C. 174, 180, 691 S.E.2d 482, 486 (Ct. App. 2010); see also State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 101, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000); State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 265, 513 S.E.2d 104, 109 (1999); Casey v. State, 305 S.C. 445, 447, 409 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991).⁹ Thus, a request to charge a lesser-included offense

⁹ Although some prior State v. Gandy, 283 S.C. 571, 574, 324 S.E.2d 65, 67 (1984) upheld the denial of an involuntary manslaughter charge where the defendant’s act of self-defense and intent to kill another and thus negated the lesser charge for killing the victim, that case and its reasoning has been abrogated by later South Carolina case law confirming that self-defense and involuntary manslaughter jury instructions are not mutually exclusive. See, e.g., State v. Mekler, 379 S.C. 12, 16, 664 S.E.2d 477, 479 (2008) (“Finally, a self-defense charge and an involuntary manslaughter

is properly refused only when there is no evidence that the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense. Casey, 305 S.C. at 447, 409 S.E.2d at 392.

Involuntary manslaughter is the unintentional killing of another without malice, but (1) while engaged in an unlawful activity not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm; or (2) the unintentional killing of another without malice, while engaged in a lawful activity with reckless disregard for the safety of others. State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 51-2, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003); see also State v. Light, 378 S.C. 641, 648, 664 S.E.2d 465, 468 (2008); Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 265, 513 S.E.2d 104, 109 (1999).

In the case at bar, evidence is present in the record supporting the charge of involuntary manslaughter. First, direct evidence was present in the record indicating Appellant did not intend to kill either Minor *or* the assailant shooting at him. Specifically, Appellant testified that he tensed up, “was scared and lost, [his] train of thought, almost like everything around [him] just kind of.... Like just kind of like a blur.” R. 1177, ll. 3-10. He acknowledged firing what he thought may have been 10 to 12 times from his AK pistol at the assailant until it was empty

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