**RECEIVED**

**May 20 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Lexington County  
The Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

QUAYSHAUN XZANDER CLARK,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000962

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. S. RICK HUBBARD, III

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

Clark admitted he intentionally fired his AK/SKS weapon 15 times. Clark admitted the weapon did not fire accidentally or automatically. The trigger was pulled each time to make it fire. Pickens, 320 S.C. 528, 466 S.E.2d 364 (holding where defendant admitted he intentionally shot his gun, contending he was acting recklessly but lawfully in self-defense, involuntary manslaughter charge was not warranted); State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007)(defendant not entitled to involuntary manslaughter instruction where after altercation with his grandfather he obtained shotgun, returned to his grandparents room and shot them, even though he claimed involuntary intoxication from Zoloft); Cabrera-Pena, 361 S.C. at 381, 605 S.E.2d at 526 (involuntary manslaughter instruction not warranted where accused was “engaged in unlawful, felonious and harmful conduct” at the time of the incident); State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994)(trial court did not err in refusing to instruct on involuntary manslaughter **where defendant wielded knife in an intentional manner, because the intentional use of a dangerous instrumentality does not support the allegation of mere criminal negligence**); Bozeman v. State, 307 S.C. 172, 177, 414 S.E.2d 144, 147 (1992)(no evidence of mere criminal negligence in use of a dangerous instrumentality because the defendant intentionally fired his weapon);<sup>11</sup> Gibson v. State, 390 S.C. 347, 701 S.E.2d 766 (Ct. App. 2010)(“the essence of involuntary manslaughter is the involuntary nature of the killing” and because co-defendant admitted he voluntarily and intentionally fired his weapon, the trial court properly denied the instruction on involuntary manslaughter to accomplice defendant); State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 483-84, 415 S.E.2d 819, 821-22 (Ct. App. 1991)(noting that under involuntary manslaughter, the act must be unintentional

---

<sup>11</sup>A deadly weapon is generally defined as any article, instrument, or substance which is likely to produce death or great bodily harm. State v. Davis, 374 S.C. 581, 649 S.E.2d 132 (Ct. App. 2007); State v. Bennett, 328 S.C. 251, 493 S.E.2d 845 (1997). An AK assault rifle/pistol is definitely a deadly weapon or dangerous instrumentality. See State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 647, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994).

and defendant intentionally shot his gun though he claimed self-defense); Light, 378 S.C. 641, 664 S.E.2d 465 (finding defendant had lawfully armed himself in self-defense and was entitled to instruction on involuntary manslaughter where there was evidence the gun *unintentionally* discharged); State v. Brayboy, 387 S.C. 174, 691 S.E.2d 482 (Ct. App. 2010)(although unlawful to point and present a firearm, when defendant lawfully armed himself in self-defense his failure to immediately disarm himself when the threat subsided did not amount to unlawful pointing and presenting a firearm and evidence suggesting gun *accidentally* discharged was sufficient to warrant instruction on involuntary manslaughter). *See also* State v. Tyler, 348 S.C. 526, 560 S.E.2d 888 (2002)(“An unintentional killing resulting from an unlawful assault and battery, **not of a character of itself to cause death**, is involuntary manslaughter...” ) *quoting* State v. Chatman, 336 S.C. 149, 152-53, 519 S.E.2d 100, 101 (1999), *citing* 40 C.J.S. *Homicide* Section 40 (1991), *other citations omitted* (emphasis added).<sup>12</sup> State v. Davis, 374 S.C. 581, 649 S.E.2d 132 (Ct. App. 2007)(defendant not entitled to involuntary manslaughter charge where striking someone in the head with a 5-pound sledgehammer would naturally tend to cause death or great bodily injury *and* there was no evidence defendant handled sledgehammer with reckless disregard for the safety of others but *intentionally struck the victim on the head* with it). Under the evidence, Clark was not entitled to an instruction on involuntary manslaughter.

Clark argues the jury could have determined he acted recklessly while in self-defense; and, as a result, he alleges he was entitled to an involuntary manslaughter instruction. As shown in the citations above, he is wrong. Pickens, 320 S.C. 528, 466 S.E.2d 364 (holding where defendant

---

<sup>12</sup>*See also* Smith v. Padula, 444 F.Supp. 531 (D.S.C. 2006)(habeas corpus petitioner failed to show S.C. Supreme Court unreasonably applied U.S. Supreme Court precedent in reversing PCR Court’s grant of relief on ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to preserve trial judge’s refusal to charge involuntary manslaughter where S.C. Supreme Court determined Petitioner was not entitled to involuntary manslaughter instruction under S.C. law).

admitted he intentionally shot his gun, contending he was acting recklessly but lawfully in self-defense, involuntary manslaughter charge was not warranted); Douglas v. State, 332 S.C. 67, 75 n. 4, 504 S.E.2d 307, 311 n. 4 (1998). Our Supreme Court faced a nearly identical argument, and found it was tantamount to imperfect self-defense, which South Carolina has not recognized, and has no application to involuntary manslaughter. State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 764 S.E.2d 511(2014), *referencing* State v. Finley, 277 S.C. 548, 551, 290 S.E.2d 808, 809 (1982)(imperfect self-defense is not the law in South Carolina), *and citing* Douglas v. State, 332 S.C. 67, 75 n. 4, 504 S.E.2d 307, 311 n. 4. In addition, under this precedent the most Clark would be entitled to receive, *even if* South Carolina were to recognize imperfect self-defense, which it has not, was an instruction on voluntary manslaughter, not involuntary manslaughter. Id., *citing* Roy Moreland, The Law of Homicide 93 (1952); 40 C.J.S. *Homicide* Section 110 (2006), *also referencing* State v. Falkner, 301 Md. 482, 483 A.2d 759 (1984).<sup>13</sup> In fact, in Sams, the Court cited approvingly the Court of Appeals opinion, State v. Scott, 408 S.C. 21, 757 S.E.2d 533 (Ct. App. 2014):

Similarly the Court of Appeals recently considered a defendant's assertion that "the trial court erred by not charging involuntary manslaughter because under his version of the facts, he unintentionally caused [the victim's] death when he lawfully but recklessly performed a martial arts move in self defense." State v. Scott, 408 S.C. 21, 22, 757 S.E.2d 533, 534 (Ct. App. 2014). The Court of Appeals found "no basis to conclude Scott acted recklessly in defending himself because the circumstances Scott alleges to be reckless are the same circumstances that justified his use of force." Id.

Sams, *supra*. As a result, this issue has no merit and must be denied.

Clark was simply not entitled to an instruction on involuntary manslaughter in this case. It is undisputed the child victim was shot in the head by Clark with a AK/SKS rifle/pistol. Clark

---

<sup>13</sup> As will be shown under Appellate Issue II., Clark was not entitled to a voluntary manslaughter instruction either.

admitted he fired the AK weapon intentionally each of the 15 times it was fired. There is no question the victim was shot in the head by a bullet fired intentionally by Clark. While Clark claimed he accidentally shot the victim, this does not entitle him to an involuntary manslaughter instruction. Clark pulled the trigger 15 times intentionally, shooting the victim 1 time in the head killing her. *See State v. Patterson*, 337 S.C. 215, 522 S.E.2d 845 (Ct. App. 1999)(court properly refused charge of simple assault and battery on ABHAN indictment, where there was a difference in size and sex of the defendant and victim, a gun was held to the victim's head, and victim was pregnant and was dragged up a flight of steps on her stomach in the victim's home); *State v. Tyndall*, 336 S.C. 8, 518 S.E.2d 278 (Ct. App. 1999)(court properly refused charge of simple assault and battery on ABHAN indictment, where there the aggravating circumstance was resisting a lawful authority, i.e., a police officer. Thus, even if the defendant had committed a simple assault in the usual sense, he would be guilty of ABHAN under these circumstances).

Furthermore, the evidence was admittedly inconsistent with a tussle or struggle over a gun and would not entitle Clark to an involuntary manslaughter instruction. Clark admitted he was not struggling with someone over a gun and the gun discharged. There was no struggle. The victim was found on the floor of the interior of her home. She had a gunshot wound to the head.<sup>14</sup> This was from a firearm that was fired intentionally by pulling the trigger at least 15 times. Clark was simply not entitled to an instruction on involuntary manslaughter. Judge McCaslin did not abuse her discretion in declining to charge involuntary manslaughter.

---

<sup>14</sup> Clark cites to some cases in his brief which eventually held the appellant in that case was entitled to an instruction on involuntary manslaughter where the defendant alleged he and the victim had struggled over a weapon. However, Clark has not cited any case in which the victim was shot after the defendant fired intentionally 15 times in the victim's direction with an assault rifle/pistol with a range of 400 yards. Clark is simply not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter instruction under the facts and evidence of this case.

The cases Clark cites in his brief (See IBOA) do not entitle him to an involuntary manslaughter charge on the facts of this case under South Carolina law. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 672 S.E.2d 786; Reese, 370 S.C. at 36, 633 S.E.2d at 900-01; Cabrera-Pena, 361 S.C. at 381, 605 S.E.2d at 526-27. See Knoten, 347 S.C. at 309, 535 S.E.2d at 398 (defendant not entitled to involuntary manslaughter); State v. Burriss, 344 S.C. 256, 259, 513 S.E.2d 194, 106 (1999)(defendant entitled to both accident and involuntary manslaughter); Wiggington v. State, 413 S.C. 578, 776 S.E.2d 407 (Ct. App. 2015)(only discussing the fact that the trial judge charged the defense of accident at trial indicated he found some evidence defendant was acting lawfully when he armed himself and ultimately finding based on the facts defendant was entitled to involuntary manslaughter charge); State v. Chatman, 336 S.C. 149, 153, 519 S.E.2d 100, 102 (1999)(defendant not entitled to accident charge but was entitled to involuntary manslaughter charge); State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 414, 706 S.E.2d 14, 15 (2011)(defendant was not entitled to either accident or involuntary manslaughter charge). Additionally, the facts of Knoten, Burriss, Wiggington, Chatman and Smith are completely different from the facts of this case where the victim was an innocent child who was minding her own business inside a friend's home and was killed after Clark intentionally fired his AK/SKS assault rifle/pistol 15 times in the direction of a crowd of men and in the direction of the victim's home which was clearly visible to Clark. A jury instruction must be supported by evidence in the record. Here the evidence does not support a charge of involuntary manslaughter. Judge McCaslin did not abuse her discretion in declining to charge involuntary manslaughter.

***Harmless error***

Further, even assuming *arguendo* Clark was somehow entitled to an involuntary manslaughter instruction on this record, the failure to do so was harmless under the particular facts

of this case. State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 755 S.E.2d 432 (2014)(finding harmless error analysis is appropriate for the failure to charge a lesser included offense); State v. Battle, 408 S.C. 109, 757 S.E.2d 737 (Ct. App. 2014)(same). To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous **and** prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 529 S.E.2d 721 (2000). "When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must 'determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.'" Middleton, *supra*, quoting State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 144-45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998). An erroneous instruction will be deemed a harmless error if, based on all of the evidence presented to the jury, it did not contribute to the verdict. Tate v. State, 351 S.C. 418, 570 S.E.2d 522(2002); Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 424 S.E.2d 477 (1992). "In making a harmless error analysis, our inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered." Middleton. "Thus, whether or not the error was harmless is a fact intensive inquiry." Id. A fact intensive inquiry shows Judge McCaslin's not charging involuntary manslaughter did not contribute to the verdict in this case.

The overwhelming evidence showed the child victim's death was the result of a shoot-out between 2 armed gangs of men, 1 of which included Clark, who decided to settle a dispute at a crowded mobile home park in the view of everyone in attendance at 2 different parties. Clark was in communication with his cousin D.J. prior to the armed conflict, and D.J. brought some of the other men in their group to Clark after talking over the phone with Clark. After Hugo fired his revolver up in the air and yelled: "Bust, n\_\_\_\_\_ bust", the two opposing groups opened fire on each other. Clark intentionally fired his assault rifle/pistol from the Lot 7 mobile home's back porch and backyard 15 times. The gun had a range of 400 yards. Clark struck the mobile home on Lot

15 two (2) times with 1 bullet killing the child victim. Clark's 9mm was used to shoot at the group of men between Lots 15 and 16 as well. And, another associate of Clark, fired a .40 caliber pistol multiple times from Lot 7. The mobile home in which the victim was located was shot a total of 8 times. Clark's version of the events and where he was located during the shooting is not supported by the physical evidence or testimony. After the shootout ended, Clark fled and deleted all of the phone calls and the text message from D.J. occurring before the murder. The destruction of evidence is evidence of guilt. State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 513 S.E.2d 606 (1999)(the destruction or attempted destruction of evidence is evidence of guilt) *abrogated on other grounds* State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 706 S.E.2d 324 (2011). Clark and his girlfriend also deleted phone calls from each other and purchased new phones. Clark also made phone calls to his cousin who hid the 9mm pistol for him. Clark also disposed of the murder weapon and the ammunition for the AK pistol. Id. Clark was apprehended hiding at the home of a cousin in Gilbert, S.C. and when questioned denied owning an assault weapon; however, business records proved the murder weapon was purchased by him.

Given the evidence *in this particular case*, it is clear the failure to charge involuntary manslaughter, if error, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 755 S.E.2d 432 (finding failure to charge lesser included offense was harmless after a fact specific inquiry). As a result, this appellate ground has no merit and must be denied. *See* Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 420 S.E.2d 834 (1992)(judge's incorrect instruction was harmless, where instruction did not contribute to verdict, where there was overwhelming evidence of malice).

## ARGUMENT II.

**Judge McCaslin did not abuse her discretion in declining to instruct the jury on voluntary manslaughter where the victim, an innocent third party, did not provoke Clark and South Carolina has not extended the doctrine of transferred intent to voluntary manslaughter; regardless, Clark's own testimony did not establish voluntary manslaughter where he testified he had no intent to harm anyone when shooting his assault rifle.**

### *What occurred below*

As previously discussed, at the charge conference, Clark also requested the court instruct the jury on voluntary manslaughter. Judge McCaslin declined. Clark renewed his objection after the jury instruction. The State argued the provocation did not come from the victim, which is required under South Carolina law to have voluntary manslaughter, and South Carolina has not extended transferred intent to voluntary manslaughter, and regardless, "there was not sufficient evidence on the record to support a voluntary manslaughter charge regardless of the transferred intent issue." (R. 1346, l. 20 - 1347, l. 7). Judge McCaslin correctly declined to instruct the jury on voluntary manslaughter stating as follows:

I read the Childers, the Wharton, and also the Williams case that was supplied by the defendant, and the law as it stands today in this State is our Court has not applied the doctrine of transferred intent to voluntary manslaughter. This Court does not believe the evidence even supports a voluntary manslaughter [instruction] in this case, nor was there any overt act by the victim to indicate any provocation by the victim.

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